# SUPREME COURT COPY

### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

AMIR A. AHMED,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S191020

FILED WITH PERMISSION

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 3 - 2011

Appellate District Division Two, Case No. RIF1455480derick & Ohlrich Clerk Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. E049932

The Honorable Sharon J. Waters, Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Does the multiple punishment bar of Penal Code section 654 apply to sentence enhancements generally?<sup>1</sup>
- 2. Even if section 654 does apply to sentence enhancements, does section 1170.1 evidence the legislative intent that section 654 not prohibit imposition of sentence enhancements for both personal use of a firearm and for infliction of great bodily injury?

#### INTRODUCTION

Appellant was arguing with his girlfriend, Larin Romo, inside his apartment. The argument ended when appellant shot Romo in the stomach. The gunshot caused Romo severe injuries. She underwent emergency surgery to safe her life, and remained in the hospital for three weeks.

The jury convicted appellant as charged of assault with a firearm, as well as enhancements for personally using a firearm and causing great bodily injury. The trial court sentenced appellant to four years for the assault, four years for the great bodily injury enhancement, and three years for the gun use enhancement. The appellate court ordered the three year gun use enhancement stayed, finding that its imposition violated the multiple punishment proscription of section 654.

The appellate court erred in so doing because section 654 is not applicable to sentence enhancements, including conduct enhancements. The purpose of section 654 is to ensure a defendant's punishment is commensurate with his or her culpability. The court's application of 654 here does just the opposite, essentially giving appellant the same sentence as a defendant who shoots at his victim and misses; shoots at his victim and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

does not cause great bodily injury; or causes great bodily injury by some force other than a firearm. This does not comport with the purpose of section 654. Moreover, application of section 654 to enhancements renders other narrowly tailored statutes superfluous.

Assuming, arguendo, that this Court decides 654 generally applies to conduct enhancements, it nevertheless does not apply in this case because the plain language of section 1170.1, subdivisions (f) and (g) make it clear that gun use and great bodily injury enhancements shall be imposed notwithstanding section 654. Moreover, the legislative history of both sections comports with this interpretation of the statute.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

A Riverside County jury found appellant guilty of assault with a firearm, in violation of section 245, subdivision (a). (1 CT 172.) The jury also found it true that appellant personally used a firearm, within the meaning of section 12022.5, subdivision (a), and that appellant personally inflicted great bodily injury under circumstances involving domestic violence, within the meaning of section 12022.7, subdivision (e). Appellant admitted two prior prison terms within the meaning of section 667.5, subdivision (b). (1 CT 173-174.)

The court sentenced appellant to a 13-year prison term, consisting of the upper term of four years for the substantive crime; three years for the gun use enhancement; four years for the great bodily injury enhancement; and two years for the two prior prison terms. (1 CT 211.)

The Court of Appeal found no error affecting the conviction. It held, however, in the published portion of its opinion, that the imposition of separate and unstayed sentences on the firearm use enhancement and the great bodily injury enhancement violated section 654. In so holding, the Court reasoned that section 654 can apply to an enhancement, at least under some circumstances. The Court of Appeal also rejected the People's

argument that section 1170.1, subdivisions (f) and (g) permit imposition of both enhancements notwithstanding section 654. (*People v. Ahmed*, Slip Opinion at pp. 17-19.) Consequently, the Court of Appeal directed the trial court to modify the judgment with respect to the sentence by staying execution of the consecutive three-year term imposed on the personal firearm use enhancement.

On March 2, 2011, respondent filed a petition for review in this Court. On April 20, 2011, the Court granted review.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and his girlfriend, Larin Romo, were arguing inside his apartment. (1RT 62.) Romo was sitting on the floor in appellant's kitchen looking through some items she had purchased during the day, and appellant was sitting at the kitchen table. Romo did not believe the argument to be very serious, and she was shocked when appellant unexpectedly shot her in the abdomen. She could not believe that she had been shot, and she did not see it coming. (1RT 47.)

When Romo realized what happened, she begged appellant to call 911. (1RT 55.) She was scared and found it difficult to breathe. (1RT 55.) Romo believed appellant was more afraid of getting into trouble than he was of her dying, so she told him that she would not tell the police what had happened. (1RT 55-56.) Appellant picked Romo up, put her on his bed, and called 911. (1RT 56.)

Paramedics transported Romo to the hospital where she underwent emergency life-saving surgery. The bullet penetrated Romo's abdomen and fractured her pelvis. It left seven separate holes in Romo's small bowel and two holes in her colon. She remained in the hospital for about three weeks. (1RT 54-55, 57, 135-136.)

When the police arrived, Romo said she had been standing on the balcony, smoking a cigarette, when she was shot. (1 RT 56, 147.) A search

of the balcony and the area beneath it uncovered nothing of evidentiary value. (1 RT 147-149.) The police did find a pistol magazine hidden in a box of staples in appellant's room. (1 RT 173-174.)

The police searched appellant's apartment again the next day. (1 RT 246.) They found a live .380-caliber bullet hidden under a piece of cardboard in a jewelry box. (1 RT 252, 2 RT 336.) Later that day, Riverside Police Detective Wheeler spoke to Romo at the hospital. (1 RT 242.) She maintained that she did not know who shot her. (1 RT 59.)

Detective Wheeler spoke to Romo again. After he confronted her with inconsistencies in her story, she admitted it was appellant who shot her. (1RT 59, 243.) She testified that she lied about appellant being the shooter because she was afraid for her safety. (1RT 64.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. SECTION 654 DOES NOT APPLY TO SENTENCE ENHANCEMENTS

The multiple punishment bar of section 654 does not apply to enhancements because its application would circumvent the very purpose of section 654, which is to ensure that a defendant's punishment is commensurate with his or her culpability. Further, as this Court's reasoning in prior cases demonstrates, application of section 654 to enhancements would render other code sections superfluous. This is true of both status and conduct enhancements alike. Moreover, principles of statutory interpretation and legislative intent are in accord with this interpretation.

#### A. Principles of statutory construction

The principles governing statutory construction are well established.

As this Court has observed, "The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate

the purpose of the law." (People v. Pieters (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898; see also People v. Gardeley (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 621.) In approaching this task, a court "must first look at the plain and common sense meaning of the statute because it is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent and purpose." (People v. Cochran (2002) 28 Cal.4th 396, 400; see also Brown v. Kelly Broadcasting Co. (1989) 48 Cal.3d 711, 724, 727-728 [in adopting legislation, the Legislature is presumed to have had knowledge of existing domestic judicial decisions an to have enacted and amended statutes in the light of such decisions as have a direct bearing on them].)

If there is "no ambiguity or uncertainty in the language, the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said," and it is not necessary "to resort to legislative history to determine the statute's true meaning." (People v. Cochran, supra, 28 Cal.4th at pp. 400-401.) However, "[t]he intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (People v. Pieters, supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 899.) Courts do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather "read every statute 'with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness.' [Citation.]" (Ibid.) Namely, the words must be considered ""in context, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute. . . . " [Citation.]" (People v. Murphy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142.) A court must take the language of a statute "as it was passed into law, and must, if possible without doing violence to the language and spirit of the law, interpret it so as to harmonize and give effect to all its provisions." (People v. Garcia (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1, 14.)

Courts will not construe an ambiguity in favor of the accused if such a construction is contrary to the public interest, sound sense, and wise policy. (*People v. Douglas* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 428, 434-435; *In re Ramon A.* (1995) 40 Cal.App.4th 935, 941.) Rather, the major consideration in interpreting a

criminal statute is the legislative purpose. The statute is read in light of the evils which prompted its enactment and the method of control which the Legislature chose. (*In re Ramon A., supra*, 40 Cal.App.4th at p. 941.)

Further, "[w]here statutes are in conflict, it is well settled that " a general [statutory] provision is controlled by one that is special, the latter being treated as an exception to the former. A specific provision relating to a particular subject will govern in respect to that subject, as against a general provision, although the latter, standing alone, would be broad enough to include the subject to which the more particular provision relates.' " '[Citations.]" (People v. Chaffer (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1037, 1045–1046, quoting People v. Superior Court (2002) 28 Cal.4th 798, 808.)

1. Application of section 654 to sentence enhancements is contrary to the purpose of the statute

Penal Code section 654, subdivision (a), states:

An act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one provision. An acquittal or conviction and sentence under any one bars a prosecution for the same act or omission under any other.

Section 654 has been extended to preclude multiple punishments for "a course of conduct which violated more than one statute but nevertheless constituted an indivisible transaction." (*People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 550, 551.) However, where a defendant entertains multiple and independent criminal objectives, separate punishments are permitted for violations of law which would otherwise constitute an indivisible course of conduct. (*Ibid.*) As such, section 654 ensures a defendant's punishment is commensurate with his or her culpability. (*People v. Latimer* (1993) 5

Cal.4th 1203, 1211; *People v. Perez, supra*, 23 Cal.3d at pp. 550-551; *Neal v. State of California* (1960) 55 Cal.2d 11, 20.)

There are two different categories of sentence enhancements: status enhancements, which go to the nature of the offender, such as recidivist enhancements; and conduct enhancements, which go to the nature of the offense, such as a firearm enhancement. (*People v. Coronado* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 145, 156.) (*Coronado*). In Coronado, this Court held that section 654 does not apply to status enhancements because they "relate to the status of the recidivist offender engaging in criminal conduct, not to the conduct itself." (Id. at p. 157.) This Court concluded that it was unnecessary to resolve the issue regarding conduct enhancements. (*Ibid.*)

Appellate courts disagree about the application of section 654 to conduct enhancements. (See *People v. Boerner* (1981) 120 Cal.App.3d 506, 511 [section 654 is "inapplicable to enhancements, because they individually do not define a crime or offense but relate to the penalty to be imposed under certain circumstances."] [internal citations omitting and citing cases in accord]; but see *People v. Moringlane* (1982) 127 Cal.App.3d 811, 817; *People v. Dobson* (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 496, 501[section 654 applies regardless if those violations are defined as offenses or enhancements] [and citing cases in accord].)

While recognizing this disagreement, this Court has repeatedly declined to decide the issue, finding these cases dispositive on other grounds. (See, e.g., People v. Rodriguez (2009) 47 Cal.4th 501, 507-508; People v. Palacios (2007) 41 Cal.4th 720, 727-728; People v. Oates (2004) 32 Cal.4th at 1048, 1066, fn. 7; People v. Coronado, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 157; People v. Jones (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1142, 1152; People v. King (1993) 5 Cal.4th 59, 78.)

Application of 654 to conduct enhancements would circumvent the purpose of section 654 and the purpose of individual enhancements

themselves. Because the purpose of section 654 is to ensure a defendant's punishment is commensurate with his culpability, courts must have discretion to impose enhancements notwithstanding section 654. As in this case, if enhancements are subject to section 654, a defendant who shoots his victim, requiring her to undergo emergency life saving surgery and hospitalization lasting three weeks, would receive the same sentence as a defendant shoots at his victim and misses her, or shoots and grazes her arm, leaving only an abrasion. This result gives the defendant here a "free" enhancement, and is directly contrary to the purpose of section 654.

Moreover, applying section 654 to enhancements contradicts the purpose of individual enhancements themselves. Enhancements "focus on an element of the commission of the crime or the criminal history of the defendant which is not present for all such crimes and perpetrators and which justifies a higher penalty than that prescribed for the offenses themselves. That is one of the very purposes of an enhancement's existence." (*People v. Rayford* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 1, 9, quoting *People v. Hernandez* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 194, 207-208.) (See *People v. Boerner*, supra, 120 Cal.App.3d at p. 511 [section 654 does not apply to sentencing enhancements "because they individually do not define a crime or offense but relate to the penalty to be imposed under certain circumstances.].) As this Court has recently observed, section 654 "applies only to offenses punishable in different ways[.]" (*People v. Gonzalez* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1118, 1124, fn. 5, emphasis added.)

The legislative intent with regard to the enhancement provisions here supports this interpretation. As to section 12022.5, subdivision (a), the Legislature's intent "is to deter persons from creating a potential for death or injury resulting from the very presence of a firearm at the scene of a crime, and to deter the use of firearms in the commission of violent crimes by prescribing additional punishment for each use." (*In re Tameka C*.

(2000) 22 Cal.4th 190, 196, internal citations omitted; see also *People v. Ledesma* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 90, 101 ["the obvious purpose of section 12022.5 is to deter the use of firearms in the commission of violent crimes by prescribing additional punishment for each use."].) Similarly, "[s]ection 12022.7 is a legislative attempt to punish more severely those crimes that actually result in great bodily injury." (*People v. Guzman* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 761, 765.)

If section 654's proscription against multiple punishment is applicable to conduct enhancements, in every case where a defendant shoots his victim causing serious injury, or a variety of other such scenarios, the defendant will get a "free" enhancement, and the legislative intent in enacting the enhancement statutes will be thwarted. The purpose of enhancements is to impose a harsher penalty on crimes that justify a higher penalty. Therefore, this interpretation of section 654 is incorrect.

# 2. Application of section 654 to enhancements renders other code sections superfluous

This Court's reasoning in *Coronado* supports the conclusion that section 654 does not apply to conduct enhancements, because doing so would render more narrowly tailored conflicting code sections superfluous. In concluding that section 654 does not apply to status enhancements, Coronado relied in large part on *People v. Rodriguez* (2008) 206 Cal.App.3d 517, quoting the following portion of that decision:

To hold that section 654 applies to enhancements to forbid the dual use of any fact [such as a prior conviction or prison term] as well as to forbid multiple punishment for any act would render provisions of Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (b) superfluous and negate an amendment thereto. Section 1170, subdivision (b) presently provides in pertinent part that '[t]he court may not impose the upper term by using the fact of any enhancement upon which sentence is imposed under section 667.5 . . . or under any other section of law.' If section 654 prohibited all dual uses

of facts, this section . . . would be superfluous. [¶] When section 1170, subdivision (b) was enacted in 1976, it also provided: 'In no event shall any fact be used twice to determine, aggravate, or enhance a sentence.' Immediately prior to the effective date of this legislation, this provision of section 1170, subdivision (b) was deleted. [¶] This provision would have prohibited the sentences here as the same conviction and prison term is used to 'determine' the sentence as a felony and to enhance the sentence. It would be anomalous to apply this rule enacted in 1976 and repealed in 1977 before becoming effective under the guise of interpretation of section 654 which has been in existence since 1872.

(*People v. Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 157-158, quoting *People v. Rodriguez, supra*, 206 Cal.App.3d at pp. 519-520, fn. omitted.)

In *Coronado*, this Court applied the reasoning in *Rodriguez* to hold the same prior conviction could be used to elevate a driving under the influence conviction to a felony and enhance the sentence under section 667.5, subdivision (b). (*People v. Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 159.) This Court concluded: "Because the repeat offender (recidivist) enhancement imposed here does not implicate multiple punishment of an act or omission, section 654 is inapplicable." (*Id.* at p. 158.) This Court did not decide whether section 654 applied to the second category of enhancements which go to the nature of the offense. (See *People v. Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 157.) Nevertheless, this Court found "the reasoning of *Rodriguez* persuasive." (*Id.* at p. 158.)

Respondent submits the reasoning of *Rodriguez* applies equally to the second category of enhancements, namely, those going to the nature of the offense. The deleted language of former section 1170, subdivision (b) prohibited the dual use of facts not only to "determine" a sentence, but to "aggravate" or "enhance" it as well. As in *Rodriguez*, it would be anomalous to apply the repealed portions of section 1170 under the guise of

interpretation of section 654. As noted in *Rodriguez*, section 654 has been in existence since 1872. If such a limitation on multiple use of enhancements were already included within that provision, it would not have been necessary for the Legislature to enact the limitations on the use of such sentence enhancements in the 1976 amendments to section 1170, subdivision (b) – amendments the Legislature repealed in any event the very next year.

Indeed, the *Rodriguez* court also noted that application of section 654 to enhancements would render sections 12022, subdivisions (a) and (b), and 12022.5, subdivisions (a) and (b), superfluous. (See *People v. Rodriguez*, *supra*, 206 Cal.App.3d at p. 519.) Those provisions state that firearm enhancements can be imposed only when the arming or use of the firearm is not an element of the underlying offense, prohibiting dual use of facts that would otherwise be barred under section 654. Once again, these provisions would not have been necessary if section 654 already included such a bar.

In a similar fashion, the Legislature has also limited the number of enhancements which may be imposed under other sections. Section 12022.53, subdivision (f), is one such provision, limiting those firearm or great bodily injury enhancements which may be added in addition to an enhancement under section 12022.53.

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