Supreme Court Copy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

-vs -

AMIR A. AHMED,

Defendant and Respondent,

Case No. S191020

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 17 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Appellate District Division Two, Case No. E049932
Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF145548
The Honorable Sharon J. Waters, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PHILLIP I. BRONSON ESQ.
Bar No. 33308
P.O. Box 57768
Sherman Oaks, CA 91413-7768
(818) 784-9702
Attorney for Defendant and Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Case No.	S191020

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

[Citation.]" [Citation.]" (Coronado, at p. 151.) If the words of the statute are ambiguous, a court may resort to "extrinsic sources, including the ostensible objects to be achieved and the legislative history." (*Ibid.*) Applying these rules of statutory interpretation, a court "'must select the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the Legislature, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute, and avoid an interpretation that would lead to absurd consequences.' [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*)

In construing a statute, courts do not consider statutory language in isolation; rather, courts look to the statute as a whole, taking into account each clause and section in context and harmonizing the provisions relating to the same subject matter. (*People v. Andrade* (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 351, 356.)

C. Section 654

Here, the imposition of both the firearm use enhancement (§ 12022.5(a)) and the great bodily injury enhancement (§ 12022.7(e)) violates section 654's rule against multiple punishment because both enhancements arose from the same act or course of conduct, i.e., the shooting of Larin Romo in appellant's apartment.

Section 654, subdivision (a) provides, in pertinent part, "[a]n act or omission that is punishable in different ways by different provisions of law shall be punished under the provision that provides for the longest potential term of imprisonment, but in no case shall the act or omission be punished under more than one

provision." Section 654 is intended "to insure that a defendant's punishment is commensurate with his [or her] culpability." (*People v. Perez* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 545, 552.)

Section 654 precludes multiple punishment for a single act or omission, or an indivisible course of conduct. (§ 654; *People v. Miller* (1977) 18 Cal.3d 873, 885.) If, for example, a defendant suffers two convictions, punishment for one of which is precluded by section 654, that section requires the sentence for one conviction to be imposed, and the other imposed and then stayed. (*People v. Miller, supra*, 18 Cal.3d at p. 886.) Section 654 does not allow any multiple punishment, including either concurrent or consecutive sentences. (*In re Wright* (1967) 65 Cal.2d 650, 652-655, [trial court erred in imposing concurrent sentences for two convictions for which section 654 prohibited multiple punishment].)

D. Section 654 Applies to Enhancements

Whether section 654 generally applies to enhancements has not been resolved by the California Supreme Court. (See *People v. Palacios* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 720, 728; *People v. Oates* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1048, 1066, fn. 7; *People v. Coronado* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 145, 157.) The California Supreme Court has addressed the issue by analyzing the language of the specific enhancement statute (*People v. Palacios, supra*, 41 Cal.4th 720) or by examining the nature of the particular enhancement (*People v. Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th 145). *Palacios*

held three section 12022.53 firearm enhancements should be imposed, despite section 654, because section 12022.53 expressly states the enhancement shall be applied as an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment *notwithstanding* any other provision of law. (Id. at pp. 726-728.) Palacios reasoned this language demonstrated a legislative intent to override section 654. (Id. at pp. 728-730.)

In *Coronado*, the court held that section 654 did not bar use of a prior conviction to elevate an offense to a felony and use of the prison term resulting from the prior conviction to enhance the sentence. (*People v. Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 159.) The *Coronado* court based its holding on the distinction between enhancements that pertain to the nature of the offense and enhancements that pertain to the nature of the offender. (*Id.* at pp. 156-158.) The court concluded that a prior prison term enhancement, which was "attributable to the defendant's status as a repeat offender," did not constitute punishment for an "act or omission" within the meaning of section 654. (*Coronado, supra*, at p. 158.)

In all other contexts, however, our high court has yet to reach the issue and provide the courts with guidance. (*People v. Wynn* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1210, 1218-1219.) Whether section 654 applies to enhancements as a general proposition, the appellate courts are split. (*People v. Arndt* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 387, 294-395 (*Arndt*); *Wynn, supra*, at p. 1219, fn. 8.)

In the past, some courts held that section 654 is inapplicable to enhancements because they do not define a crime or offense but relate to the penalty imposed. (People v. Boerner (1981) 120 Cal.App.3d 506, 511 (Boerner) [section 654 does not apply to great bodily injury enhancements]; *People v.* Parrish (1985) 170 Cal. App. 3d 336, 344 [same]; People v. Warinner (1988) 200 Cal.App.3d 1352, 1355 [section 654 does not apply to enhancements for committing an offense while released from custody related to a previous offense].) But as to conduct enhancements, the recent trend is otherwise. (People v. Reeves (2001) 91 Cal. App. 4th 14, 56 [applying section 654 to enhancements for causing great bodily injury]; Arndt, supra, 76 Cal.App.4th at p. 395 [same].) As early as 1992, the Boerner court acknowledged that "'it is now well-accepted that section 654 applies to enhancements. [Citations.]' [Citation.]" (People v. Price (1992) 4 Cal. App. 4th 1272, 1277.) It was the *Boerner* court that decided *Wynn* and held that if the factual basis for an enhancement is an act or omission, then "the enhancement falls within the scope of section 654." (Wynn, supra, 184 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1220 [applying section 654 to an enhancement for personally using a deadly weapon during the commission of a burglary].)

One court recently concluded that section 654 was inapplicable to an enhancement imposed under section 12022.7. "[S]ection 12022.7 is a specific provision that operates as an exception to the more general statute, section 654."

(*People v. Chaffer* (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1037 at p. 1044-1045.) The court further explained: "Section 12022.7 is a narrowly crafted statute intended to apply to a specific category of conduct. It represents 'a legislative attempt to punish more severely those crimes that actually result in great bodily injury.' [Citations.]" (*Id.* at p. 1045.) "If we were to apply the general provisions of section 654 to the more specific GBI enhancement, it would nullify section 12022.7" whenever the enhancement and underlying offense involved the same act. (*Ibid.*) "This cannot be what the Legislature intended" (*Ibid.*)

Other appellate courts have applied section 654 where multiple enhancements were imposed for a single criminal act. (See *People v. Arndt, supra*, 76 Cal.App.4th at p. 397; and see *People v. Chaffer, supra*, 111 Cal.App.4th at p. 1045 [collecting cases].)

Our Supreme Court has acknowledged the split of authority, but so far has declined to resolve it. (*People v. Palacios, supra,* 41 Cal.4th 720, 728 (*Palacios*) ["[W]e need not address the People's argument that section 654 generally does not apply to enhancements. We leave that question for another day"].) It was unnecessary for the court to reach the issue in *Palacios* because the particular enhancement provision involved there, i.e., section 12022.53, contained express language that it applied "[n]otwithstanding ay other provision of law" as an

additional and consecutive term of imprisonment. (*Palacios, supra*, at pp. 725-726., italics omitted.)

Recently in *People v. Rodriguez* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 501, our Supreme Court noted that in *Coronado* it had "concluded that section 654's prohibition against multiple punishment for a single "act or omission" *does not* apply to enhancements based on the nature of the offender. (*Coronado*, supra, at p. 158.)" (*Rodriguez* at p. 507.)

Further in *Rodriguez*, the court stated that it "need not, however, decide whether section 654 applies to sentence enhancements that are based on the nature of the offense, because of our conclusion that the additional punishments imposed under the two enhancement provisions in this case violated subdivision (f) of section 1170.1." (*Rodriguez* at p. 507.)

The court in *Reeves* observed that although the Supreme Court had declined to decide the applicability of section 654 to enhancements in general, it had "distinguished between 'two types of sentence enhancements: (1) those which go to the nature of the offender; and (2) those which go to the nature of the offense [Citation.]" (*Reeves, supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 56, quoting *Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 156.) As the court observed in *Coronado*, "enhancements such as section 667.5 'are attributable to the defendant's status as a repeat offender []' ..., [while] 'the second category of enhancements, which are exemplified by those

authorized under sections 12022.5 [use of firearm] and 12022.7 [great bodily injury], arise from the circumstances of the crime and typically focus on what the defendant did when the current offense was committed. [Citation.]" (*Reeves*, at p. 56, quoting *Coronado*, at p. 157, italics omitted.) The *Reeves* court found the distinction drawn by *Coronado* between types of enhancements to be significant, because "[m]ultiple enhancements for the same criminal conduct run directly counter to section 654's rule against multiple punishment in a way offender-status-based enhancements do not." (*Reeves, supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 56.)

Similarly, the court in *Arndt*, which had previously followed *Boerner*, found support for applying section 654 to enhancements in *Coronado's* conclusion that prior prison term enhancements are an exception to section 654, because they do not implicate multiple punishment for the underlying criminal conduct, but rather, for the defendant's status as a repeat offender. (See *Arndt*, *supra*, 76 Cal.App.4th at pp. 394-396, *Coronado*, *supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 158, § 667.5, subd. (b).) Thus, 654 applies to enhancements "'which go to the nature of the offense" and punish acts "'the defendant did when the current offense was committed." (*Reeves*, *supra*, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 56, quoting *Coronado*, *supra*, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 156, 157.) In this context, there is no "'meaningful distinction'" between bodily injury and firearm enhancements. (*People v. Oates*, *supra*, 32 Cal.4th 1048 at p. 1067, quoting *Moringlane*, *supra*, 127 Cal.App.3d at p. 819.)

In *Coronado*, the enhancements at issue in the case were based on prior offenses and were status enhancements to which section 654 does not apply. The court explained that the status enhancements like these

"are not imposed for 'acts or omissions' within the meaning of the statute" (*People v. Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 157.)

With regard to status enhancements, the Coronado court noted that they

"are attributable to the defendant's status as a repeat offender [citations]; they are not attributable to the underlying criminal conduct which gave rise to the defendant's prior and current convictions." Therefore, "[b]ecause the repeat offender (recidivist) enhancement imposed here does not implicate multiple punishment of an act or omission, section 654 is inapplicable." (*Id.* at p. 158.)

In *Coronado*, the court identified Penal Code section 12022.5 as an example of an enhancement in the second category. (*People v. Coronado, supra,* 12 Cal.4th at p. 157.) Penal Code section 12022.5, subdivision (a), provides:

"[A]ny person who personally uses a firearm in the commission of a felony or attempted felony shall be punished by an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment in the state prison for 3, 4 or 10 years, unless use of a firearm is an element of that offense."

The court expressed no opinion about whether section 654 applies to the second category, enhancements based on conduct rather than status. (*Coronado*, *supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 157.) The court's reasoning, however, strongly implies that section 654 does apply to those enhancements. In the court's view, section 654

does not apply to status enhancements because, by its terms, section 654 only prohibits double punishment for a single criminal "act or omission." (Pen.Code, § 654.) A prior conviction enhancement, for instance, imposes punishment for the status of having priors or being a recidivist, not for an act or omission. A conduct or nature-of-the-offense enhancement, by contrast, does impose punishment for an act or omission, "typically ... what the defendant did when the current offense was committed." (*People v. Coronado, supra,* 12 Cal.4th at p. 157.) It is only a short logical step to the conclusion that section 654 applies to conduct enhancements.

The Fourth District Court of appeal took that step in *People v. Arndt, supra*, 76 Cal. App.4th 387. There the defendant was convicted of driving under the influence. Three victims were injured in the accident the defendant caused. The defendant received a total of five sentence enhancements (three under Pen.Code, § 12022.7 and two under Veh.Code, § 23182) for causing bodily injury to the three victims. (*People v. Arndt, supra*, at pp. 391-392.) Holding that the bodily injury enhancements "'focus[ed] on what the defendant did when the current offense was committed'" within the meaning of the Supreme Court's opinion in *Coronado*, the court held that section 654 applied and ordered two of the enhancements stayed. (*People v. Arndt, supra*, at pp. 395, 397, 399.)

There is no reason not to take the same approach in this case. The enhancements are both within the second category of enhancements. The Supreme

Court defined in *Coronado*, those that pertain to what defendant did when the current offense was committed.

In the instant matter, this court should conclude that section 654 applies to conduct enhancements. Both section 12022.7(e) and 12022.5(a) involve conduct. The circumstances under which these enhancements arose go "to the nature of the offense" and create an enhancement arising "from the circumstances of the crime." (*Coronado, supra*, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 156-157.) Both section 12022.7, subdivision (e) and 12022.5, subdivision (a) are conduct enhancements. Section 654 therefore prohibits the imposition of both enhancements and only the one with the longer term should apply. Since the great bodily injury enhancement has the longer term, this court should strike the firearm use enhancement.

This conclusion is certainly in accord with those cases which have found section 654 applicable to enhancements and is both reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances. The Court of Appeal's conclusion is as reasonable and appropriate as those suggested by respondent and under the interpretative device known as the rule of lenity – i.e. "when as here, the "language which is reasonably susceptible of two constructions is used in a penal law ordinarily that construction which is more favorable to the offender will be adopted." (*People v. Ralph* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 575, 581 ["[I]t is also true that the defendant is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable doubt, whether it arise out of a question of fact, or as to the true

interpretation of words or the construction of language used in a statute [citations]".]; see 1 Witkin, Cal.Criminal Law (3d ed 2000) § 24, p. 51; *People v. Avery* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 49, 58 [the rule is inapplicable "'unless two reasonable interpretations of the same provision stand in relative equipoise, i.e., that resolution of the statute's ambiguity in a convincing manner is impracticable"].)

П

THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY APPLIED SECTION 654 TO PRECLUDE IMPOSITION OF BOTH THE GUN USE ENHANCEMENT AND INFLICTION OF GREAT BODILY INJURY ENHANCEMENT

The Ahmed court found no conflict between sections 654 and section 1170.1, subdivision (f) and (g) because both of the latter provisions stated, "'This subdivision shall not limit the imposition of any other enhancements applicable to that offense, ...'" including the enhancement for firearm use and for the infliction of great bodily injury. According to the Court of Appeal, the italicized language served to leave open the potential for other statutes, including section 654, to "limit the imposition of other enhancements." (Slip Opn. at pp. 17-19.)

Respondent contends that assuming arguendo section 654 applies to sentence enhancements, the Court of Appeal erred by applying it to a preclude imposition of the gun use enhancement and infliction of great bodily injury enhancement. (OBM 15-21.) ² Here, the Court of Appeal concluded that appellant's sentence which included the imposition of both the firearm and

² OBM refers to plaintiff-respondent's opening brief on the merits.

infliction of great bodily injury enhancements violated section 654 and ordered that the lesser of the two enhancements stayed. Respondent contends that this was error.

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